

Available at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/hemonc

REVIEW



Aging and stem cell therapy: AMPK as an applicable pharmacological target for rejuvenation of aged stem cells and achieving higher efficacy in stem cell therapy

Mohammadhossein Khorraminejad-Shirazi^{a,b,*}, Mohammad Farahmandnia^{a,b}, Bahareh Kardeh^{a,b}, Alireza Estedlal^{a,b}, Sina Kardeh^{a,b}, Ahmad Monabati^{c,d}

^a Cell and Molecular Medicine Student Research Group, School of Medicine, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

^b Student Research Committee, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

^c Department of Pathology, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

^d Hematology Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

Received 25 December 2016; received in revised form 21 July 2017; accepted 8 August 2017 Available online 19 October 2017

KEYWORDS Aging; AMPK; mTORC1; Rejuvenation; SIRT1; Stem cell therapy

Abstract

In recent years, tissue regeneration has become a promising field for developing stem cellbased transplantation therapies for human patients. Adult stem cells are affected by the same aging mechanisms that involve somatic cells. One of the mechanisms involved in cellular aging is hyperactivation of mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and disruption of 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK). Aging of stem cells results in their impaired regenerative capacity and depletion of stem cell pools in adult tissue, which results in lower efficacy of stem cell therapy. By utilizing an effective therapeutic intervention for aged stem cells, stem cell therapy can become more promising for future application. mTORC1 inhibition is a practical approach to preserve the stem cell pool. In this article, we review the dynamic interaction between sirtuin (silent mating type information regulation 2 homolog) 1, AMPK, and mTORC1. We propose that using AMPK activators such as 5-aminoimidazole-4carboxamide ribonucleotide, A769662, metformin, and oxidized nicotinamide adenine

Corresponding author at: Student Research Committee, Zand Blvd, PO Box 7134845794 Shiraz, Iran. Tel.: +989379456261. *E-mail address*: hkhorraminejad@sums.ac.ir (M. Khorraminejad-Shirazi).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hemonc.2017.08.001

1658-3876/© 2017 King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/). dinucleotide (NAD⁺) are practical ways to be employed for achieving better optimized results in stem cell-based transplantation therapies.

© 2017 King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

Introduction	190
Defining stem cells and their functions	190
Stem cell senescence negatively affects their quality for cell therapy	190
Strategies for rejuvenation can yield higher quality stem cells	191
5-Aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide 1	191
NAD ⁺	191
Metformin	191
Interaction between SIRT1, AMPK, and mTORC1 explains a mechanism for rejuvenation	192
Discussion	192
Conflicts of interest	193
Acknowledgments	193
References	193

Introduction

Longevity brings about new challenges regarding aging and degenerative diseases to modern medicine. Cellular senescence is irreversible proliferation arrest and limitation of vitality, induced by a variety of exogenous and endogenous stressors. The accumulative results of aging processes lead to gradual deterioration of structure and decline in function and regenerative potential of organs [1].

Stem cells are affected with the same aging mechanisms that involve somatic cells [2]. In this article, we focus on senescence in stem cells, and explore possible strategies using small molecules and already Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved medications - to reverse the aged phenotype in these cells, also known as rejuvenation.

Defining stem cells and their functions

Stem cells are a population of undifferentiated cells capable of self-renewal, as well as differentiating into specialized mature tissue cell types. Adult stem cells are found in mature tissues. The plasticity of these cells allows them to generate various lineages of cells, even different from their organ of origin; hence, these cells can be used for organ regeneration and cellular repair in stem cell therapy [3].

Stem cells and progenitor cells are able to self-renew and differentiate into organ-specific cell types *in vitro*. *In vivo* stem cell transplantation, as shown in animal models of diseases, can reconstitute injured organ systems [4].

The regenerative potential of stem cells has been investigated by many scientists. The promising success of tissue regeneration by utilizing stem cells has given rise to the idea of developing stem cell-based transplantation therapies for human patients. Stem cell therapy proved to be attainable for many patients, like those who suffer from ischemic stroke [5], cardiac diseases [6], neurodegenerative disorders [7], and corneal destruction [8]. Diverse applications for mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) include regeneration of various connective tissue lineages and parenchymal cells [9–11].

Stem cell senescence negatively affects their quality for cell therapy

As mentioned earlier, stem cells are affected with the same aging mechanisms that involve somatic cells [2]. Although it is believed that the number of stem cells does not decrease with age, their impaired regenerative capacity complicates age-related diseases [12]. Thus, stem cell senescence per se is not directly held responsible for mortality and determination of life span, as age-related diseases are. However, it contributes to worsening of disease conditions; for instance, through poor replacement of damaged somatic cells after myocardial infarction [13].

Stem cells in aged tissues have been exposed to a relatively greater amount of intrinsic and extrinsic toxic metabolites. In response, various intra- and extracellular pathways are activated, which in turn have undesirable effects on genetic and metabolic characteristics of cells, associated with aging [14]. Genomic alterations include telomere dysfunction, elevation of p53-associated genes, DNA damage, and apoptosis [12]. Moreover, proteostasis and lipid profile do not remain unaffected, and mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction, which is mostly believed to have resulted from mutation accumulation in mitochondrial DNA, ultimately brings about the age-dependent functional decline in cell mitochondria [14].

Various studies have shown that aging reduces the regenerative potential of stem cells. Degenerative changes in tissue-specific stem cells and stem cell niches cues that dysregulation of stem cell activity could be due to adaptive cellular processes attributed to tissue aging changes such as accumulation of toxic metabolites, DNA damage, mitochondrial dysfunction, proliferative exhaustion, extracellular signalling, and epigenetic remodeling [13,14]. Adult stem cells such as aged hematopoietic stem cells (HPSCs) are known to have lost their ability to respond to stress and differentiation [15]. Also, hyperactivation of mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and disruption of 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) are known to deplete HPSC pools [16], resulting in reduced benefits of cell therapy in elderly patients, the largest target group for regenerative medicine [15,17].

Age-related diseases like diabetes [15] can also negatively impact stem cells by reducing angiogenic capacity and therapeutic potential, leading to age-induced chronic diseases like chronic kidney disease [1]. In addition, stem cell niches lose their ability to maintain stem cells in a quiescent state with aging driving cells to differentiation [18]. Regarding the study of Dexheimer et al [19], no specific parameters other than age could be identified as influencing the quality of stem cells.

Strategies for rejuvenation can yield higher quality stem cells

As reviewed in the previous section, current clinical utilization of stem cells is challenged by multiple factors, such as donor age, degenerative diseases, or identification of senescent cells [20].

There is evidence concluding that modification of nutrients, antioxidants, growth factors, serum depletion and deprivation, and treatment with platelet rich plasma and low oxygen conditions can more or less hinder the aging of cells [20]. Nevertheless, modulation of genetic pathways known to have a pivotal role in the phenomenon of senescence, or making changes in the microenvironment (also known as niche) of the target tissue for stem cells, provides a rather effective mode of therapeutic intervention for stem cell therapy in elderly patients [12].

There are few studies in the literature that investigate the possibility of stem cell rejuvenation by incorporating small molecules or medications. Herein, we review the studies that successfully rejuvenated various lineages of stem cells.

5-Aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide

Lee et al [16] used 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribonucleotide (AICAR) to overcome the shortage of available HPSCs/progenitor cells for transplantation. In their study, HPSCs/progenitor cells were preconditioned with AICAR and repopulation capacity of HPSCs after transplantation was assessed. They concluded that preconditioning of HPSC pools with AICAR dramatically improves the long-term repopulation of transplanted HPSCs.

It has been shown that an endogenous pool of multipotential MSCs develops in the territory of infarcted cardiac muscle. Although typically, MSCs differentiate into fibroblasts responsible for collagen secretion and scar tissue formation, this process is impaired in the aging mouse. In fact, fibroblasts derived from aged heart muscle are dysfunctional and produce insufficient collagen and exhibit poor maturation into myofibroblasts. Cieslik et al [21] showed that AICAR can improve this defect *in vitro* via activating AMPK. Introduction of AICAR to aged heart led to mobilization of endogenous MSCs and differentiation towards fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in the infarct and was followed by enhanced collagen deposition and collagen fiber maturation in the scar.

NAD⁺

In a study conducted by Zhang and colleagues [22], they demonstrated that treatment with the NAD⁺ precursor nicotinamide riboside (NR) rejuvenated muscle stem cells (MuSCs) in aged mice. They showed that NR inhibits MuSCs senescence and improves MuSCs function by enhancing mitochondrial function in a sirtuin 1 (SIRT1)-dependent manner. Furthermore, they showed that NR decreases senescence of neural and melanocyte stem cells.

Metformin

As reviewed by Hickson et al [1], several drugs are shown to affect endothelial progenitor cells, among which are biguanides and namely, metformin. As a result of their study, they reported that administration of metformin leads to enhancement of endothelial progenitor cell function and mobilization.



Fig. 1 5' Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) as an applicable drugs/small molecules target and its interaction with mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1).

Drug/small molecule	Mode of AMPK activation
NAD⁺	Indirect: Increased NAD ⁺ to NADH ratio leads to activation of SIRT1, which in turn activates LKB1 by deacetylation. LKB1 then proceeds to upregulate AMPK activity by phosphorylation of T172 [29]
Metformin	Controversy: Recent research points to an indirect mechanism mediated through metformin inhibition of AMP deaminase, resulting in an increase in cellular AMP levels, which in turn activates AMPK [36]
AICAR	Direct: Upon introduction into cells, AICAR is converted to ZMP, a nucleotide that mimics the effect of AMP, ergo activating AMPK [35]
A769662	Direct: A769662 mimics the effect of AMP by binding and activating AMPK. Furthermore, it inhibits dephosphorylation of T172 on AMPK, keeping this protein in active state [39]

Table 1Direct and indirect Modes of 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) activation by different drugsand small molecules.

Interaction between SIRT1, AMPK, and mTORC1 explains a mechanism for rejuvenation

SIRT1 is a member of mammalian sirtuins (SIRT1–SIRT7), a conserved family of NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases that are required for many chief cellular processes including metabolic regulation [23,24]. SIRT1 improves mitochondrial biogenesis through deacetylation and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha [25].

It has been difficult to unwind the epistasis of SIRT1 and AMPK, a strictly conserved heterotrimeric kinase complex constituted of a catalytic (a) subunit and two regulatory (b and g) subunits, activated under conditions of energy stress, as occurs in nutrient deprivation or hypoxia when intracellular adenosine triphosphate decreases and intracellular adenosine monophosphate (AMP) rises [26]. AMPK has a dynamic interaction with SIRT1; it has been shown that AMPK activates SIRT1, probably through an indirect increase in cellular NAD⁺ levels [27], whilst SIRT1 deacetylates the AMPK kinase, liver kinase B1 (LKB1), which leads to increased phosphorylation and activation of AMPK [28,29].

Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a prime determinant of lifespan in numerous organisms such as yeast, worms, flies, and mice. mTOR constitutes two complexes in cells: mTORC1 and mTORC2, each having their unique structure. mTOR and approximately all of the mTOR-regulated processes are fundamental in cellular and organismal aging. By the same token, mTORC1 inhibition may represent a viable approach to preserve the stem cell pool, therefore, maintaining functionality of tissues and organs over time [30]. Moreover, mTORC1 is an inhibitor of the process of autophagy, which has a key role in stem cell rejuvenation, and inhibition of mTORC1 activity is an important step for autophagy initiation [31].

Physiologically, glucose and oxygen control mTORC1 activation. Furthermore, one mechanism through which intracellular energy level affects mTORC1 activation is through AMPK kinase activity upon tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) 2 tumor suppressor upstream of mTORC1, on conserved serine sites distinct from those targeted by other kinases, hence indirectly inhibiting mTORC1 [32,33]. Over

and above that, regulatory-associated protein of mTOR has been identified as a direct substrate of the AMPK. Phosphorylation of regulatory-associated protein of mTOR by AMPK on Ser722/Ser792 is essential for inhibition of mTORC1 [34].

The research by Hickson et al [1], Lee et al [16], and Zhang et al [22], mentioned in the previous section, does not explain the detailed mechanism through which rejuvenation of aged stem cells was achieved; this mechanism can be explained in light of SIRT1-AMPK-mTORC1 interaction. AICAR and metformin can directly upregulate AMPK activity [35,36], resulting in enhanced inhibition of mTORC1 [32–34]. When inhibited, mTORC1 can no longer mediate cellular aging, and autophagy pathway will be unblocked, which eventually leads to stem cell rejuvenation [31].

NAD⁺ mediates its role in stem cell rejuvenation through upregulation of SIRT1 activity. SIRT1 proceeds to activate LKB1 by means of deacetylation, and LKB1 then directly interacts with AMPK and leads to its activation. Thus, NAD⁺ has an indirect effect of AMPK activation [29] (Fig. 1).

Recent studies indicate that metformin might mediate its AMPK-activating role indirectly. A study conducted by Ouyang et al [36] points out metformin inhibition of AMP deaminase that results in an increase in cellular AMP level, which then activates AMPK. Furthermore, metformin effect on AMPK activation is well established both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [37].

The modes of AMPK activation for the mentioned compounds are summarized in Table 1.

Discussion

As mentioned earlier, senescent adult stem cells have reduced quality and potential for proliferation and differentiation [2,12–16]. Pretreatments that induce rejuvenation of these cells can increase their efficacy in cell therapy and will be highly favored in clinical application and regenerative medicine. As an example in the field of hematopoietic cell transplantation, current data show that mTOR pathway is hyperactive in aged mice HSCs. The imbalance caused by aging induced impairment of HSC development in the elderly contributes to impaired therapeutic responses more than in the young and lowers the success rate of HSC transplantation from aged donors. Inhibition of mTOR via pharmaceutical agents enhances the regenerative capacity of aged mice HSCs and reveals the conservation mechanisms for functional restoration of HSCs [31]. We suggest that AICAR and NAD⁺ are such compounds, and they can improve stem cell function and enhance the efficacy of stem cell therapy. Metformin, an already FDA-approved, widely utilized medication, is another feasible option for induction of stem cell rejuvenation in adult stem cell therapy [38]. The mechanism by which NAD⁺ repletion refines mitochondrial and stem cell function and promotes lifespan acts mainly through the AMPK-mTORC1 pathway. Also, since AICAR, metformin, and NAD⁺ derivatives mediate their rejuvenating role through AMPK activation, we suggest that other novel AMPK activators, such as A769662 [39], are practical compounds to be employed in stem cell therapy methods to achieve higher efficacy and better results. The application of the mentioned compounds in vitro, in vivo, and in clinical research could have a beneficial effect on stem cells technology and cell therapy using aged adult stem cells, in autologous and allogeneic cell transplantation, and rejuvenation of damaged tissues in vivo.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Dr. Zohreh Amoozgar for her insight and comments on an earlier version of the manuscript.

References

- Hickson LJ, Eirin A, Lerman LO. Challenges and opportunities for stem cell therapy in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 2016;89:767–78.
- [2] Mantel C, Broxmeyer HE. SIRT1, stem cells, aging, and stem cell aging. Curr Opin Hematol 2008;15:326-31.
- [3] Strauer BE, Kornowski R. Stem cell therapy in perspective. Circulation 2003;107:929-34.
- [4] Asahara T, Kalka C, Isner JM. Stem cell therapy and gene transfer for regeneration. Gene Ther 2000;7:451–7.
- [5] Bang OY, Lee JS, Lee PH, Lee G. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in stroke patients. Ann Neurol 2005;57:874–82.
- [6] Segers VF, Lee RT. Stem-cell therapy for cardiac disease. Nature 2008;451:937-42.
- [7] Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Martinez-Serrano A. Stem cell therapy for human neurodegenerative disorders-how to make it work. Nat Med 2004;10(Suppl):S42–50.
- [8] Rama P, Matuska S, Paganoni G, Spinelli A, De Luca M, Pellegrini G. Limbal stem-cell therapy and long-term corneal regeneration. N Engl J Med 2010;363:147–55.
- [9] Kuo TK, Hung SP, Chuang CH, Chen CT, Shih YR, Fang SC, et al. Stem cell therapy for liver disease: parameters governing the success of using bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Gastroenterology 2008;134, 2111–21, 2121.e1–3.
- [10] García-Olmo D, García-Arranz M, Herreros D, Pascual I, Peiro C, Rodríguez-Montes JA. A phase I clinical trial of the treatment of Crohn's fistula by adipose mesenchymal stem cell transplantation. Dis Colon Rectum 2005;48:1416–23.

- [11] Murphy JM, Fink DJ, Hunziker EB, Barry FP. Stem cell therapy in a caprine model of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48:3464–74.
- [12] Ludke A, Li R-K, Weisel RD. The rejuvenation of aged stem cells for cardiac repair. Can J Cardiol 2014;30:1299–306.
- [13] Blagosklonny MV. Aging, stem cells, and mammalian target of rapamycin: a prospect of pharmacologic rejuvenation of aging stem cells. Rejuvenation Res 2008;11:801–8.
- [14] Oh J, Lee YD, Wagers AJ. Stem cell aging: mechanisms, regulators and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Med 2014;20:870-80.
- [15] Rando TA. Stem cells, aging and the quest for immortality. Nature 2006;441:1080–6.
- [16] Lee H, Park HS, Choi OK, Oh JE, Chung SS, Jung HS, et al. Novel strategy for successful long-term hematopoietic recovery after transplanting a limited number of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2014;20:1282–9.
- [17] Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA. Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature 2005;433:760–4.
- [18] Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS. The aged niche disrupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature 2012;490:355–60.
- [19] Dexheimer V, Mueller S, Braatz F, Richter W. Reduced reactivation from dormancy but maintained lineage choice of human mesenchymal stem cells with donor age. PLoS ONE 2011;6:e22980.
- [20] Li J, Pei M. Cell senescence: a challenge in cartilage engineering and regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2012;18:270–87.
- [21] Cieslik KA, Taffet GE, Crawford JR, Trial J, Osuna PM, Entman ML. AICAR-dependent AMPK activation improves scar formation in the aged heart in a murine model of reperfused myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2013;63:26–36.
- [22] Zhang H, Ryu D, Wu Y, Gariani K, Wang X, Luan P, et al. NAD+ repletion improves mitochondrial and stem cell function and enhances life span in mice. Science 2016;352:1436–43.
- [23] Baur JA, Chen D, Chini EN, Chua K, Cohen HY, De Cabo R, et al. Dietary restriction: standing up for sirtuins. Science 2010;329:1012–4.
- [24] Price NL, Gomes AP, Ling AJ, Duarte FV, Martin-Montalvo A, North BJ, et al. SIRT1 is required for AMPK activation and the beneficial effects of resveratrol on mitochondrial function. Cell Metab 2012;15:675–90.
- [25] Scarpulla RC. Metabolic control of mitochondrial biogenesis through the PGC-1 family regulatory network. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011;1813:1269–78.
- [26] Hardie DG. AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinases: conserved guardians of cellular energy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8:774–85.
- [27] Cantó C, Auwerx J. Caloric restriction, SIRT1 and longevity. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2009;20:325–31.
- [28] Ivanov VN, Partridge MA, Johnson GE, Huang SX, Zhou H, Hei TK. Resveratrol sensitizes melanomas to TRAIL through modulation of antiapoptotic gene expression. Exp Cell Res 2008;314:1163–76.
- [29] Lan F, Cacicedo JM, Ruderman N, Ido Y. SIRT1 modulation of the acetylation status, cytosolic localization, and activity of LKB1 possible role in AMP-activated protein kinase activation. J Biol Chem 2008;283:27628–35.
- [30] Zoncu R, Efeyan A, Sabatini DM. MTOR: from growth signal integration to cancer, diabetes and aging. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12:21–35.
- [31] Chen C, Liu Y, Liu Y, Zheng P. mTOR regulation and therapeutic rejuvenation of aging hematopoietic stem cells. Sci Signal 2009;2:ra75.

- [32] Corradetti MN, Inoki K, Bardeesy N, DePinho RA, Guan KL. Regulation of the TSC pathway by LKB1: evidence of a molecular link between tuberous sclerosis complex and Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Genes Dev 2004;18:1533–8.
- [33] Inoki K, Zhu T, Guan KL. TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival. Cell 2003;115:577–90.
- [34] Gwinn DM, Shackelford DB, Egan DF, Mihaylova MM, Mery A, Vasquez DS, et al. AMPK phosphorylation of raptor mediates a metabolic checkpoint. Mol Cell 2008;30:214–26.
- [35] Hawley SA, Gadalla AE, Olsen GS, Hardie DG. The antidiabetic drug metformin activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade via an adenine nucleotide-independent mechanism. Diabetes 2002;51:2420–5.
- [36] Ouyang J, Parakhia RA, Ochs RS. Metformin activates AMP kinase through inhibition of AMP deaminase. J Biol Chem 2011;286:1–11.
- [37] Zhou G, Myers R, Li Y, Chen Y, Shen X, Fenyk-Melody J, et al. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. J Clin Invest 2001;108:1167–74.
- [38] Fatt M, Hsu K, He L, Wondisford F, Miller FD, Kaplan DR, et al. Metformin acts on two different molecular pathways to enhance adult neural precursor proliferation/self-renewal and differentiation. Stem Cell Rep 2015;5:988–95.
- [39] Göransson O, McBride A, Hawley SA, Ross FA, Shpiro N, Foretz M, et al. Mechanism of action of A-769662, a valuable tool for activation of AMP-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 2007;282:32549-60.